2001

R.D. Andrus v. The State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This matter involves three consolidated actions for damages against the State of Utah, Salt Lake County, and Gibbons & Reed Company based on flooding damage which occurred in two storms during a State highway construction project. By order of the Court (R. 59) and pursuant to Rule 42(b), the issue of liability was tried separately, reserving for later proceedings the question of damages. The Defendants State of Utah and Salt Lake County cross claimed against Gibbons & Reed Company.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A trial before a jury was held in the Court of the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge in the Third Judicial District Court on March 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 18, 1974. A special verdict was returned by the jury upon interrogatories submitted to it. The jury found that the highway project of the State of Utah was unreasonably defective or dangerous and that the Plaintiffs were damaged as a proximate result. (R. 720-23) The jury also found that Salt Lake County unreasonably created a defective or dangerous condition in the utilization of its storm drain system and that all Plaintiffs (except Richard Grotepas who had not sued the County) were damaged as a proximate result. (R. 723-24) In addition, the jury found that Salt Lake County was negligent in failing to provide reasonably adequate drainage facilities for the highway project and that Plaintiffs suffered damage as a proximate result thereof. (R. 728) Finally, the jury found that Gibbons & Reed Company was negligent in failing to take reasonable precautions to protect

the project during construction and that this negligence proximately caused damage to Plaintiffs. (R. 728)

An amended Order and Judgment was entered on May 15, 1974, under which the Court found that the State of Utah is liable for damages to all Plaintiffs as a result of the flood which occurred on August 17, 1969. (R. 776-77) The State was also adjudged liable for damages incurred by Plaintiffs Kunkel for flooding on April 3, 1969. (R. 777-78) However, contrary to the findings of the jury, the Court ruled that the County of Salt Lake and Gibbons & Reed Company were not liable for any damages suffered by any Plaintiffs. (R. 778) The Court also ruled that Gibbons & Reed Company was not liable for any damages under the cross claims of the State of Utah and Salt Lake County, and awarded costs in favor of Plaintiffs and against the State of Utah and in favor of Gibbons & Reed Company against Plaintiffs. (R. 778)

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Plaintiffs-Appellants seek an order from this Court directing the trial court to modify its judgment in accord with the jury's verdict holding Salt Lake County and Gibbons & Reed Company liable jointly and severally with the State of Utah for the damages incurred by the Plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiffs in this action are all homeowners residing in an area immediately west of Wasatch Boulevard near 4500 South in Salt Lake County. (Ex. 6P) This

general area is located on the base slopes of Mt. Olympus which rises sharply from the valley floor as part of the Wasatch Front. (Ex. 1P) The Defendant Gibbons & Reed Company is a large Utah construction company. (R. 1775-1777)

The Highway Construction Project

In 1968, Gibbons & Reed Company was awarded a contract by the State of Utah to construct a segment of an interstate highway running north and south from Interstate 80 to approximately 4700 South following the route of old Wasatch Boulevard along the base slopes of the Wasatch Front. (R. 1776, Ex. 6P) The portion of this project relevant to this proceeding commences at 3900 South and runs on a downgrade to 4600 South and then rises sharply to join the old Wasatch Boulevard in a temporary terminus at approximately 4700 South. Virtually the entire portion of this section of the highway lies below the natural surface of the surrounding terrain. Thus, the highway was situated in an excavated "cut" which intercepted the natural drainage channels flowing down the mountainside from east to west. (R. 909, Ex. 1P) The point at which the downgrade ended at 4600 South and the rise to the temporary terminus commenced is described as a "grade sag" (R. 1104) and in fact formed a basin with only a small embankment on the west side protecting homes below and to the west of the project. (R. 1107-09)

In the construction process, Gibbons & Reed Company followed the State's plans but was unrestricted in two important areas: (1) It was given discretionary responsibility to protect the project during construction, and

(2) it was able to use its discretion in determining what sequence to accomplish the various steps of the project. (See R. 1786, 1787)

As of April 3, 1969 (the date of the first flood), the cut had been made across the slope. The storm drain system for the highway had not been completed. As of August 17, 1969 (the date of the second flood), the concrete road beds had been laid. (R. 1475-77) The cut banks had been denuded. (See Exs. 6P, 32P, 33P, 30P, 105D, 95D, 104D, 68P, 67P, 107D) No grass, sod or other materials had been placed permanently or temporarily to prevent erosion (*Id.*). The highway storm drain system had been connected to the County system, but no effort had been made to insure that either system was free of obstruction. (R. 1555, 1725, 1726, 1293) No permanent or temporary storm grates had been placed over the entrances to the storm drain system laterals to prevent debris from washing into the storm system. (R. 1298, 1557, 1860) Protective curbing and diking had been removed. (R. 1760, 1520A, 1354)

The Storm Drain System

Salt Lake County retained the engineering firm of Caldwell, Richards & Sorenson to prepare a Master Storm Drain Study for the County in 1964. (Ex. 73P) That study showed that the interstate highway involved in this litigation was contemplated. The Master Study, however, did not anticipate the temporary terminus or end of the freeway at 4700 South. Instead, the drawings in the Study showed that the highway was to continue southward for over a mile. (See 73P at fig. 23)

In addition, the Study specifically observed that the area in question was highly dangerous in terms of flooding potential. Concerning this subject, the Study contained the following observations (Ex. 73P):

Listed briefly, some of the causes of flooding, and damage from flooding, throughout Salt Lake County are the following:

* * *

In the Foothills and Mountainside Slopes:

(a) Flash floods on steep gullies and ravines.

(b) Unwise filling of natural drainage courses, and failure to provide culverts or underground drainage systems.

* * *

Much flood damage could be prevented and drainage problems simplified, with proper planning and perhaps some legal restrictions. (Pages 1, 2)

Once disturbed in grading, trenching or other types of movement this area [the mountain slopes and foothills] becomes highly vulnerable to washing and displacement when water applied to the surface becomes greater than can be readily absorbed. (Page 11)

Rain may come in low volume steady fall over a period of many hours or it may come as a high intensity, short duration storm dropping a very heavy flow over a concentrated area or over a relatively large area. When this occurs so that rapid runoff from steeper slopes combines with that falling or running off the flatter slopes, there is created the problem of providing for the safe, orderly removal of this water from the area of origination to the final point of disposition. (Page 14)

Despite the relatively great cost of storm drainage, its provision to the maximum possible extent is, in every modern community, becoming regarded as a fundamental necessity. (Page 44)

A program of cleaning and repairing of these existing facilities will be necessary, as it was found during the field investigations that many catch basins and pipes are completely filled up. At the very least, this has caused nuisance to the public in the past. (Page 66)

{T}he engineering of storm drainage for hillside areas requires special considerations. A great deal more control of runoff waters is necessary because of the increased velocities created by building houses and streets on slopes where previously vegetation helped to absorb and lessen the runoff from a rain storm. Salt Lake County has allowed some hillside development without adequate provision for storm drainage. Subdividers have been permitted to fill in natural drainage courses and construct homes on the fill, without installing culverts or storm drain systems. In the area near 4500 South and Wasatch Boulevard, much damage has taken place during the following rainstorms, due to lack of adequate drainage facilities . . . The construction of Proposed Storm Drain "GG" is intended to relieve this situation. Construction of the Belt Route within the next 5 years will result in the relocation of Wasatch Boulevard to the east of its present location between Oakcliff Drive and Bernada Drive. Early construction of this portion of System "GG", in cooperation with the Utah Highway Department should have high priority. (Pages 78-79)

The evidence presented at the trial (and discussed more fully below) indicated the following matters:

(1) Storm Drain "GG" was never constructed. (R. 1156, 1197)

(2) Wasatch Boulevard was relocated and the effective use of the Boulevard as a drainage channel was eliminated because the high curb on the west side of the street was removed, allowing runoff water to flow across the Boulevard and down onto the freeway. (R. 1354, 1520A, 1540, 1543-44, 1558, 1760, 1762, 1763)

(3) The Storm Drains provided to drain the area were not adequate in size to carry the anticipated runoff from even a storm of anticipated volume and intensity. (R. 1669, 1681, 1201)

(4) No maintenance program was established by the County regarding the drains in question. As far as the County was aware, they had never been cleaned prior to the flooding in this case. (R. 1293, 1726)

(5) The connection between the Highway drain and the County drain did not conform to sound engineering principles because a large pipe was drained into a smaller pipe. (R. 1759, 1712)

(6) No permanent or temporary screens or grates were required or installed to protect lateral intakes. (R. 1860, 1292, 1298)

(7) At the time of the flood in the present case, the Storm Drain System was inadequate. (R. 1156)

The Storms

On April 3, 1969, a heavy rain storm resulted in runoff water washing down earth and debris from the construction site into the yard of Plaintiffs Kunkel. (R. 1029, Ex. 53P, R. 1048) Mr. and Mrs. Kunkel brought this matter to the attention of all Defendants through personal conversations and also through correspondence. (R. 1031, 1032, 1034, 1035, 1044)

On Sunday, August 17, 1969, at approximately 6:00 p.m., a heavy rainstorm occurred in the vicinity of 4500 South and Wasatch Boulevard. The amount of rain which fell in a period of about 45 minutes approximately 2.5 inches. (R. 1260, 1334, 1307-08) The jury found that the storm was not an "Act of God." (Finding G, R. 728)

The testimony revealed that storms of high intensity occur along the Wasatch Front and that the month of August is the month in which such storms most frequently occur. (R. 1265, 1305, 1603, 1614)

As the rain fell, runoff water from the residential area above Wasatch Boulevard flowed down from the Olympus Cove area to the relocated Boulevard. (R. 1762) In prior storms, such runoff water was channeled south by the Boulevard to the "Shadow Mountain Area" which is located nearly one mile south of the Plaintiffs' homes. (R. 1558) None of the Plaintiffs had ever encountered flooding damage prior to the construction here involved. (R. 826, 835, 846, 855, 860, 880, 954, 980, 1018, 1024, 1058, 1063, 1068, 1078, 1432)

Because the Boulevard no longer had a high curb or dike on the west edge, the flood waters were allowed to cascade over the Boulevard and to flow onto the new freeway below. As they did so, substantial quantities of earth from the denuded cut banks were eroded. (See Exs. 95D, 101D, 104D, 105D, 67P, 68P) At the time of the floods, the concrete highway road beds were in place but the cut ditches and barrow pits were unlined and unprotected. (R. 1488, 1475-77) The concrete road beds, constructed by defendants State of Utah and Gibbons & Reed, intercepted the flood waters which otherwise would have flowed west and downhill, substantially north of the Plaintiffs' homes. (R. 1558, Ex. 8P) The intercepted flood waters were channeled south and downhill in the highway cut to the low point of the grade sag. At that point, a large backup of water and debris was created. (Ex. 8P) Storm drains were inadequate to carry off the water. They had become completely filled with debris—some rocks 14 inches in diameter. (See Ex. 84P) The flood waters soon broke through the embankment on the west side of the freeway. A great torrent of water then rushed out of the grade sag reservoir and flooded the homes of the Plaintiffs. (Ex. 8P) The County storm sewer, which had become completely obstructed, also emitted water from two manholes which erupted in geyser-like fashion, also flooding the Plaintiffs' homes. (R. 806, 845)

The Damage

The evidence showed and the jury found that all 34 homes of the Plaintiffs sustained damages as a result of the flooding. (Finding A(2), R. 721-23) Counsel for the

State and County advised the trial court that the total damages exceeded \$100,000.00.

The issue of the exact amount of damages was reserved for a later hearing.

The Defendants' Involvement

The State. The jury found that "with respect to the flood condition on August 17, 1969, the highway project of the State of Utah, including the storm drain system, was unreasonably defective or dangerous," and that all of the Plaintiffs had damage to their property as a proximate result of the State's project. (Finding A(1) and (2), R. 721) With respect to the flooding of the property of Mr. and Mrs. Kunkel on April 3, 1969, the jury found that "the improvements and highway project created by the State of Utah was unreasonably defective or dangerous." (Finding D(1) and (2), R. 727)

On the basis of the jury's findings, the trial court entered judgment against the State of Utah.

The County. The jury found that with respect to the flooding condition of August 17, 1969, "Salt Lake County unreasonably created a defective or dangerous condition in the utilization of its storm drain system and that this caused damage to all Plaintiffs." (Finding B(1) and (2), R. 723) The jury also found that Salt Lake County was negligent in failing to provide reasonably adequate drainage facilities for the highway project and that the Plaintiffs were damaged as a proximate result of said negligence. (Finding I, R. 728) With respect to Plaintiffs

Kunkel on April 3, 1969, the jury found that "Salt Lake County created an unreasonably defective or dangerous condition in the utilization of the storm sewer system," causing damage to the Kunkels. (Finding E(1) and (2), R. 727)

The trial court declined to enter judgment against the County.

Gibbons & Reed Company. The jury found that "Gibbons & Reed Company was negligent in that it failed to take reasonable precautions to protect the project during construction." This negligence proximately caused damage to Plaintiffs. (Findings J(1) and K, R. 728).

The trial court also declined to enter judgment against Gibbons & Reed Company.

Limitation on Liability

Under the Governmental Immunity Act, every policy of insurance purchased by a governmental entity must provide property damage coverage to a limit of not less than \$50,000.00 in any one accident. (U.C.A. 63-30-29) Any judgment over the insurance coverage minimum amounts for property damage liability must be reduced by the court to a sum equal to the minimum requirements or the actual insurance coverage. (U.C.A. 63-30-34)

ARGUMENT

Summary of Plaintiffs' Position

The Plaintiffs contend that the Trial Court erred when it failed to enter judgment on the jury's verdict with respect to Salt Lake County and Gibbons & Reed; that the record strongly supports the jury's verdict both with respect to Salt Lake County and Gibbons & Reed; that the damages incurred by Plaintiffs constitute an inverse condemnation by the State of Utah and County of Salt Lake for the entire amount of which the State and County are liable.

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENTERING JUDGMENT INCONSISTENT WITH THE JURY'S FINDINGS.

The jury found that concerning the August 17, 1969, flooding, Salt Lake County unreasonably created a defective or dangerous condition in the utilization of its storm drain system "and that this proximately caused damage to all Plaintiffs." (Finding B(1) and (2), R.723) With respect to the Plaintiffs Kunkel on April 3, 1969, the jury further found "Salt Lake County created an unreasonably defective or dangerous condition in the utilization of the storm sewer system" and that this proximately damaged the Kunkels. (Finding E(1) and (2), R. 727) The jury also found that Salt Lake County was negligent in failing to provide reasonably adequate drainage facilities for the project. (Finding I, R. 728) The jury also found that Gibbons & Reed Company was negligent "in failing to take

reasonable precautions to protect the project during construction" and that such negligence proximately caused damage to Plaintiffs. (Finding J(1) and K, R. 728)

Despite these specific and clear findings, the Trial Court refused to enter judgment against Salt Lake County and Gibbons & Reed Company. This inconsistency between the jury's findings and the judgment constitutes error.

Rule 39 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure deals with "Trial by Jury or by the Court." Subsection (a) deals with trial "By Jury," and states as follows:

When trial by jury has been demanded as provided in Rule 38, the action shall be designated upon the register of actions as a jury action. *The trial of all issues so demanded shall be by jury, unless * * * [exceptions not herein applicable.] [Emphasis added.]*

The latitude which the trial court has regarding the judgment to be entered in a case where special verdicts have been utilized under U.R.C.P. Rule 49 has been defined by the Utah Supreme Court as follows:

It is recognized that where a case is submitted to the jury on special verdicts, the trial court may make corrections of obvious errors or defects therein, and he may make additional findings on issues which have not been submitted to the jury, but are necessary to settle the issues involved. *But when a party has demanded a trial by jury he is entitled to have the jury find the facts, and it is not the trial court's prerogative to make findings inconsistent therewith and thereby defeat the effect*

of the jury's findings. First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. v. Ezra C. Lundahl, Inc., 22 Utah 2d 433, 454 P.2d 886, 889 (1969). [Emphasis added.]

In that case, the trial judge made an additional finding which in effect nullified a finding made by the jury. The judge's additional finding was not allowed by the Utah Supreme Court to defeat the finding of the jury.

The relationship between findings and the judgment rendered thereon has been further stated as follows by the Utah Supreme Court:

In *Evans v. Shand*, 74 Utah 451, 280 P. 239, this Court held that a valid judgment must not only rest upon pleadings but upon findings. It is fundamental that findings of fact and conclusions of law must proceed entry of judgment. *Fisher v. Emerson*, 15 Utah 517, 50 P. 619; *Billings v. Parsons*, 17 Utah 22, 53 P. 730. "It is fundamental that the conclusions of law must be predicated upon and find their support in the findings of fact, and the judgment must follow the conclusions of law" and *if the conclusions are at variance with the findings, the Supreme Court will order the lower court to set aside its erroneous conclusions and substitute the correct ones therefor*. This is the law as announced in *Parrot Bros. Company v. Ogden City*, 50 Utah 512, 167 P. 807. And, again, we find in *Brittain v. Gorman*, 42 Utah 586, 133 P. 370, that conclusions of law must be based upon facts and must be considered with the facts, and in like fashion, the Court's decree must rest upon legal conclusions and be consistent with them. A judgment, if in conformity with the findings, will not be disturbed. And, of course, the converse is true. *A judgment not in conformity with the findings can-*

not be permitted to stand. Mason v. Mason, 160 P.2d 730, 732, 108 Utah 428 (1945). [Emphasis added.]

Any confusion arising among interrogatories to a jury and answers thereto should be resolved in accordance with the following standard:

Whenever there is uncertainty or doubt in connection with the correlation of interrogatories with each other and their answers, they should be so interpreted as to harmonize with the findings of the jury if that can reasonably be done. *Pace v. Parrish*, 122 Utah 141, 247 P.2d 273, 275 (1952).

Here again, it is the intention of the jury which is controlling, not that of the judge.

The circumstances under which the court can amend or correct a verdict are set forth in the following language from 53 Am. Jur. Trials §1094, to which a footnote citation was made by the Utah Supreme Court in the quotation from the *Lundahl* case, *supra*.

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