2001

R.D. Andrus v. The State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The evidence indicated that the flood was caused by a rainstorm of unusual intensity at a time when the freeway was especially vulnerable to flooding. Whatever knowledge Salt Lake County had of possible flooding danger from other sources, there is no evidence that Salt Lake County was aware of, or should be charged with knowledge of, the danger that caused this flood.

5. *The plaintiffs' injuries.* For the purpose of this trial it was assumed that each of the plaintiffs had been damaged.

C. SALT LAKE COUNTY IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Section 63-30-1, *et seq.*, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) provides:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this act, all governmental entities shall be immune from suit for any injury which may result from the activities of said entities wherein said entity is engaged in the exercise and discharge of a governmental function. (Sec. 63-30-3).

The Act then waives immunity in several broad areas, including dangerous condition of highways, culverts, etc., Sec. 63-30-8, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended), dangerous condition of structures and public improvements, Sec. 63-30-9, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended), and negligent acts or omissions of employees, Sec. 63-30-10, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended). This waiver of immunity, however, is not an admission of

liability. The plaintiff must still establish liability as in cases against individuals. The statute states:

. . . [C]onsent to be sued is granted and liability of the entity shall be determined as if the entity were a private person. Sec. 63-30-4, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended).

This court, in *Sanford v. University of Utah*, 26 Utah 2d 285, 488 P.2d 741 (1971) set out the three theories of recovery in a case of this nature:

An action for the invasion of a person's interest in the private use and enjoyment of his land is an action for private nuisance.

Any of three types of conduct may result in liability for private nuisance. . . . Liability for nuisance may rest upon an intentional invasion of the plaintiff's interests, or a negligent one, or conduct which is abnormal and out of place in the surroundings, and so falls fairly within the principal of strict liability. 26 Utah 2d at 291-92, 488 P.2d at 745.

In *Sanford*, there had been a previous flood caused by the same condition. The court relied upon knowledge of this prior flood to conclude that the invasion of the plaintiff's interest was intentional in the sense that:

defendant has created or continued the condition causing the nuisance with full knowledge that the harm to the plaintiff's interest is substantially certain to follow. 26 Utah 2d at 291, 488 P.2d at 745.

The present case differs from *Sanford* in that in this case the plaintiffs have never alleged nor proved

that the defendants proceeded with the full knowledge that harm to the plaintiffs' interest was substantially certain to follow. Rather, they claim that the defendants, or their employees were *negligent* in failing to properly construct I-215 and the storm sewer system.

Because the plaintiffs rely on *negligence* as an essential element of their cause of action, they also must rely on the waiver of immunity for negligence in Sec. 63-30-10, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended). And they are bound by the exceptions to immunity in that section.

1. *Salt Lake County is immune when the exercise of a discretionary function is involved.* Sec. 63-30-10(1) preserves political subdivisions' governmental immunity for a discretionary function. That section provides :

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury :

(1) arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused, . . .

In *Velasquez v. Union Pac. RR.*, 24 Utah 2d 217, 469 P.2d 5 (1970) the Utah Supreme Court interpreted this provision. The court there held that failure of the Utah Public Service Commission to require less than the most improved warning sign available at a railroad

crossing was a discretionary function and would not give rise to liability.

Conversely, in *Carroll v. State*, 27 Utah 2d 384, 496 P.2d 888 (1972), this court held that the decision of a road supervisor to use earthen berms as a means of warning drivers of an abandoned road was not a discretionary function. In so holding, the court stated:

In the instant action, the decision of the road supervisor to use berms as a sole means of protection for the unwary traveler was not a basic policy decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of some basic governmental policy, program, or objective. His decision did not require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment and expertise on the part of the Road Commission. His determination may properly be characterized as one at the operational level of decision making. 27 Utah 2d at 389-90, 496 P.2d at 891.

In so holding the Utah court followed the numerous federal cases that apply the "operational-policy" distinction that determines whether a function is discretionary for purposes of the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. 2671, *et seq.*, a statute after which the Utah Governmental Immunity Act was clearly patterned. *See, e.g., Indian Towing Co. v. United States*, 350 U.S. 61 (1955); *Dalehite v. United States*, 346 U.S. 15 (1953); *Sisley v. United States*, 202 F. Supp. 273 (D. Alas. 1962).

Plaintiffs' claims against Salt Lake County fall within one of the following claimed areas of deficiency: (1) Failure to properly inspect the system; (2) Its

agreement with the State in which freeway drainage was tied into the County system; (3) Failure to supervise and control the State's project; and (4) Reliance upon certain engineering data which was included in the storm drainage plans approved by the County Commission. With the exception of (1), which will be considered later, such actions were clearly not taken at the "operational level," but involved the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment, and expertise and are "discretionary functions" as defined in the Act. And insofar as category (3) is concerned, the County had no right of control or supervision over the State's project.

2. *Salt Lake County is not liable for failure to inspect.* Sec. 63-30-10(4), Utah Code Ann. (1963 as amended) provides another exception from liability when the action upon which liability is based: "arises out of a failure to make an inspection, or by reason of making an inadequate or negligent inspection of any property, . . ."

As noted above, there is no evidence that Salt Lake County knew of any dangerous condition in its storm sewer system, even if one were shown to exist. Neither can plaintiffs contend that the County *should have known* of such a dangerous condition by conducting an inspection. To the extent plaintiffs base their action upon Salt Lake County's failure to inspect, they are barred by Sec. 63-30-10(4), Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended). In any event, there is no evidence that an inspection, even if conducted, would have revealed any dangerous defect in the system.

POINT II

PLAINTIFFS CANNOT RECOVER UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF INVERSE CONDEM- NATION.

Inverse condemnation is an action brought against a governmental entity to recover the value of property which has been appropriated without the formal exercise of the eminent domain power. *Ossman v. Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co.*, 511 P.2d 517, 519 (Colo. App. 1973); *Thornburg v. Port of Portland*, 233 Ore. 178, 375 P.2d 100 (1962).

The plaintiffs do not have a right of recovery under the facts of this case apart from the Utah Governmental Immunity Act (Utah Code Ann. §63-30-1, *et seq.*).

The law in Utah was clearly stated by Mr. Justice Henriod in *Fairclough v. Salt Lake County*, 10 Utah 2d 417, 354 P.2d 105 (1960). In that case the Utah Road Commission reduced the grade of a highway to about 16 feet below the abutting owner's land. Consequently, access to the property was limited and the value reduced accordingly. In reversing the trial court's denial of a motion to dismiss the court held:

[C]onsistently and historically we have ruled . . . that Art. I Sec. 22 of our Constitution is not self-executing, nor does it give consent to be sued, implied or otherwise; and that to secure such consent is a legislative matter. . . .

This doctrine was followed consistently in every case that put the issue before this Court. *E.g., Holt v. Utah*

State Road Comm'n., 30 Utah 2d 4, 511 P.2d 1286 (1973);
Hampton v. State, 21 Utah 2d 342, 445 P.2d 708 (1968).

The Court wisely forbore assessing damages against the State or its subdivisions until the will of the people could be expressed by the legislature. If the Court were now to hold that a governmental entity is liable for negligent property injury outside of and beyond the Governmental Immunity Act, it would be substituting its own judgment for that of the legislature. As Mr. Justice Crockett said in *Hjorth v. Whittenburg*, 121 Utah 324, 241 P.2d 907, 909 (1953):

This phase of our law is well established and of long standing. If it is to be changed, that must come through the sovereign power of this commonwealth, the people, speaking through the legislature.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENTERING JUDGMENT AGAINST THE STATE.

The jury found that the "highway project created by the State of Utah was unreasonably defective or dangerous." (R. 727). As a result of this finding the trial court entered judgment against the State.

The State did not "create" the conditions which plaintiffs claim gave rise to the flooding. Rather, the State planned the project and engaged Gibbons & Reed to construct the highway who thereafter failed to properly "protect the project" during construction. (R. 782,

Interrog. J). The contract called for a completed facility. The State provided plans and specifications which the jury specifically found were not defective in any way. (R. 728, Interrog. H) The planning of I-215 is clearly a discretionary function, and since there was no showing of negligence which can be properly attributed to the state, the judgment against it should^{not} be permitted to stand.

A. THE JURY DID NOT FIND THAT THE STATE OF UTAH WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE.

As stated above, in relationship to Salt Lake County, in order for a governmental entity to be liable, the plaintiff must show that:

(1) liability would exist if the entity were a private person, Sec. 63-30-4, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) and

(2) that immunity is waived under either Sec. 63-30-8 or 63-30-9 or 63-30-10, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended). In addition, if the plaintiff relies on the waiver of immunity under Sec. 63-30-10, he must show that his action does not fall within one of the exceptions thereunder.

As noted above, in a case of this nature, plaintiffs must prove their case under one of three theories: the invasion must be intentional; or it must be negligent; or it must be so unusual as to give rise to strict liability.

In this case the plaintiffs do not claim that the invasion of their interest was intentional. Nor do they

claim that freeway construction is a proper case for strict liability. Rather, they base their action on *negligence*.

The jury, however, did not find that the State of Utah was negligent. The trial court submitted 16 interrogatories to the jury under the special verdict. Three of these related to the State. In Interrogatory "H" the jury specifically found that the plans which the State provided were in accordance with approved engineering standards. (R. 728). In Interrogatories "A" and "D" the jury found that the highway project was unreasonably defective or dangerous. (R. 721, 727). A finding of "*unreasonably defective and dangerous*" does not establish a cause of action against a private person. Nor does a finding of "unreasonably defective and dangerous" establish negligence. Such a finding is the hallmark of strict liability. See, Restatement of Torts, Second, §402A. Although such a finding may be in some circumstances a basis for liability, such as in the sale of a dangerous product, it is not applicable to facts surrounding the construction of a freeway by the State, as contemplated under the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

B. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY WAS NOT WAIVED FOR THE PLANNING OF I-215, SINCE PLANNING IS A DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION.

Because plaintiffs rely upon *negligence* as the basis for their cause of action, the exceptions listed in Sec. 63-30-10, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended), are applicable. Subsection (1) provides that negligent acts or

omissions of an employee of a governmental entity committed within the scope of his employment is waived "... except if the injury: (1) arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused,...."

This provision of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act was patterned after Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. 2671, *et. seq.*, so federal cases are instructive. *Sisley v. United States*, 202 F. Supp. 273 (D. Alaska 1962) was a case brought under the Tort Claims Act almost identical on its facts to the one at the bar. The plaintiffs there had been injured by a flood caused by defective drainage in a highway built by the United States. The Court held:

Plaintiffs concede that the acts of constructing the highway and deciding where the highway should be built are discretionary functions, but contend that when the government undertakes an act it may not be negligent in the performance thereof or must exercise due care, in what the Supreme Court has characterized as the "operational level" of governmental activity.

Clearly the acts here complained of relating to the planning of the construction of the grade and culverts in the improvement of the Glenn Highway are not negligent acts committed by a Government employee on the "operational level" but are acts calling for the exercise of judgment and discretion in the planning of the highway. Errors in judgment, if such may be found, are not negligence in construction. These plans were the result of policy judgment and decision and as we have noted, where there is room for such there is discretion. This view conforms to what

is believed to be the true intent of this important exception. Otherwise the Government would be liable to a property owner for every error of judgment in the planning and construction of public roads. 202 F. Supp. at 274-75.

The Utah Supreme Court has also adopted this "operational-planning" distinction in *Carroll v. State*, 27 Utah 2d 384, 496 P.2d 888 (1972).

When the legislature chose to except from liability negligent acts that arise out of discretionary functions, it recognized that enormous projects such as freeway construction may not be accomplished without the possibility of harm to some individuals. Nevertheless, the legislature recognized that the common good requires that such projects be built. It, therefore, excepted from liability, negligent acts in the planning of such projects so that the state would not "be liable to a property owner for every error of judgment in the planning and construction of public roads." *Sisley v. United States*, 202 F. Supp. at 275.

The decisions that were made here involved the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment and expertise on the part of the State. Such factors as relative cost, safety, maintenance expense, and feasibility had to be carefully weighed. The Court should recognize the policy decision made by the Utah Legislature in making the State immune from suit in this discretionary area and should not hold the State liable for the planning of I-215.

C. THE STATE OF UTAH CANNOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR INADEQUATE INSPECTION.

In addition to planning I-215, the only other aspect in which the State became involved was general inspection and supervision to assure the project was completed according to the plans and specifications. To the extent the plaintiffs rely upon any failure of the State to make inspection, or making a negligent inspection, their action is barred by Sec. 63-30-10(4), Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended), which preserves immunity in such instances.

Because all activities in which the State was engaged in this project — planning and inspection — are areas of immunity under the Governmental Immunity Act, the judgment against the State cannot stand.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT ENTERING JUDGMENT FOR INDEMNITY AGAINST GIBBONS & REED COMPANY.

The contract between the State of Utah and Gibbons & Reed Construction Company for the construction of the highway incorporated by reference the Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction, Interim Issue, March 1968 (Ex. D, Sheet No. 1).

Those Standard Specifications provide in part as follows:

107.14 *Responsibility for Damage Claims:* The Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless the State, its officers, and employees, from all suits, actions, or claims of any character brought

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